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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT,, . )\
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA,. (3, e~
ATLANTA DIVISION 1) 8AE T

CHARLES H. WESLEY EDUCATION
FOUNDATION, INC,, et al.,

Plaintiffs, CIVIL ACTION NO.

|

I

I

I

I

I
v. | 1:04-CV-1780-WCO
I

CATHY COX, individually and in her I
official capacity as Secretary of State of |
Georgia; LINDA W. BEAZLEY, :
individually and in her official capacity as
Director of the Elections Division, Office of |
the Secretary of State of Georgia, :
[

Defendants. g

PLAINTIFES’ MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

Plaintiffs, by and through undersigned counsel and pursuant to Rule 65(a)
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby move for the issuance of a
preliminary injunction requiring Defendants (and any county or local elections
officials under Defendants’ supervision):

(1) to accept for processing all of the NVRA voter registration
applications submitted to them by Plaintiffs via U.S. Mail on or about June 12,
2004, and received by Defendants on or about June 14, 2004, and to forward all

such applications to the appropriate county boards of registrars for a determination

W\



of the eligibility of those applicants to vote in said jurisdiction and/or for the
processing of any requested changes in the name or address of said voter, as
indicated on said application;

(2) to permit any applicant whose application was submitted to
Defendants by Plaintiffs (as described above) to vote in the July 20, 2004,
statewide primary elections in Georgia, and in all future elections, provided that
the information contained on the applicant’s application indicates that such
individual is qualified to vote under Georgia law and that such individual remains
qualified to vote on the day of any election; and

(3) to refrain from applying or enforcing any policy, practice, or
procedure, or taking any other action, the purpose of which is to reject or refuse to
accept NVRA voter registration applications delivered to Defendants by any
person or organization — by whatever means of delivery — on the grounds that such
applications were improperly bundled or packaged, not properly collected, not
collected by authorized personnel, or otherwise not in compliance with any
provision of the Article 6 of the Georgia Election Code (O.C.G.A. §§ 21-2-210 to
21-2-236) or any regulation promulgated pursuant thereto.

As described in more detail in the accompanying Brief, a preliminary

injunction is necessary and in the interests of justice because: Plaintiffs can show a



substantial likelihood of success on the merits of its claim; Plaintiffs and the
individuals who participated in its voter registration drive on June 12, 2004, will
suffer irreparable harm in the absence of the preliminary injunction; and the
balance of equities and the public interest weigh in favor of the grant of the
preliminary injunction.

Dated this 23" day of June, 2004.
Respectfully Submitted,

7 vy & MG

Bradley E. Heard
Georgia Bar No. 342209
Attorney for Plaintiffs

THE HEARD LAW OFFICES, LLC
3695-F Cascade Road SW
Suite 1371

Atlanta, GA 30331-2105

Tel.: 404-344-9255

Fax: 404-344-7578



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

CHARLES H. WESLEY EDUCATION
FOUNDATION, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs, CIVIL ACTION NO.

1
|
|
I
I
|
V. { 1:04-CV-1780-WCO
I
CATHY COX, individually and in her official l
capacity as Secretary of State of Georgia; LINDA W, |
BEAZLEY, individually and in her official capacity |
as Director of the Elections Division, Office of the I
Secretary of State of Georgia, :
I
I
1

Defendants.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
This will certify that 1 have this day caused to be served a copy of the within and

foregoing Motion for Preliminary Injunction upon the following parties by placing the same in
the United States Mail, postage prepaid, addressed to:

Hon. Thurbert E. Baker

Attorney General of Georgia

40 Capital Sq SW

Atlanta GA 30334

Dated this 23" day of June, 2004.

Respectfully Submitted,

SHW NG

Bradley E. Heard
Georgia Bar No. 342209




ORIGINAL

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT Ju 2

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA »
ATLANTA DIVISION by vw%%f;

CHARLES H. WESLEY EDUCATION
FOUNDATION, INC,, et al.

Plaintiffs, CIVIL ACTION NO.

V.

1:04-CV-1780-WCO

official capacity as Secretary of State of
Georgia; LINDA W. BEAZLEY,
individually and in her official capacity as
Director of the Elections Division, Office of
the Secretary of State of Georgia,

|

|

|

I

|

|

|

|

|

CATHY COX, individually and in her :
I

|

|

I

|

|

Defendants. :

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

Plaintiffs Charles H. Wesley Education Foundation, Inc. (“Wesley
Foundation”), Jaru Ruley, George L. Shaw, Jr., Gerric Johnson, Marchaeus Bacon,
and Earline Crawford (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by and through undersigned
counsel, submit the following Brief in support of their motion for a preliminary
injunction.

INTRODUCTION AND PARTIES
This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief, compensatory and

punitive damages, and attorneys’ fees, in connection with Defendants’ interference

X



with voting and other First Amendment rights secured under the constitution and
laws of the United States, specifically the National Voter Registration Act of 1993,
as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973gg et seg. (“NVRA”) and the Voting Rights Act of
1965, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1971 et seq. The principal dispute among the
parties arises out of Defendants’ rejection of approximately 63 NVRA voter
registration applications submitted to them by Plaintiffs on or about June 12, 2004,
following an organized voter registration drive that Plaintiffs held in DeKalb
County. Defendants contend that the applications were invalid and properly
rejected because the registration drive sponsored by Plaintiffs did not comply with
the requirements of the Georgia Election Code in a variety of ways, and because
Plaintiffs were not authorized, under the Georgia Election Code, to collect and
deliver the applications to Defendants.

Plaintiff Wesley Foundation is a public Georgia nonprofit charitable
corporation located in DeKalb County, Georgia. One of the Wesley Foundation’s
primary missions is to support and promote the charitable and educational
endeavors and programs of its sibling organization, the Nu Mu Lambda Chapter of
Alpha Phi Alpha Fraternity, Inc. (“Nu Mu Lambda”), also located in DeKalb
County. The Board of Directors of the Wesley Foundation is comprised
principally of members of Nu Mu Lambda and, wherever feasible, the two

organizations work in tandem on charitable and educational endeavors. Plaintiffs
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Jaru Ruley, George L. Shaw, Jr., Gerric Johnson, and Marchaeus Bacon are
members of Nu Mu Lambda and active participants in Wesley Foundation-
sponsored programs. Plaintiff Earline Crawford is one of several participants in a
registration drive co-sponsored by Nu Mu Lambda and the Wesley Foundation on
June 12, 2004. Defendant Cathy Cox (“Secretary Cox” or the “Secretary”) is the
elected Secretary of State of the State of Georgia and the designated chief
elections official of the State of Georgia. Defendant Linda W. Beazley (“Director
Beazley” or “Ms. Beazley”) is the appointed Director of the Elections Division of
the Office of the Secretary of State of Georgia.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Among its many charitable and educational activities, Plaintiffs actively
participate in two national voter registration and education programs sponsored, in
whole or in part, by the national office of Alpha Phi Alpha Fraternity,
Incorporated. Both of these initiatives are principally designed to increase the
voting strength and civic awareness and participation level of African-Americans.
As part of its local commitment to these programs, Plaintiffs made plans to
conduct several mass voter registration and education drives in the metropolitan
Atlanta area during the 2004 election season. Plaintiffs seek to provide the most

convenient and least restrictive means for registering the greatest number of




eligible voters, wherever they may live, with particular emphasis on African-
American voters in the 18- to 30-year-old range.

Plaintiffs elected to conduct their registration drives in accordance with the
mandates of the National Voter Registration Act and the Federal Election
Campaign Act, as opposed to the voter registration procedures contained in the
Georgia Election Code, because it believed that the NVRA and FECA voter
registration procedures provided the most flexible and least resirictive means by
which to conduct mass, cross-county and multi-state voter registration drives.
Such flexibility is important in a major metropolitan area such as Atlanta, which is
comprised of approximately 28 counties, some of which border other states, and
which draws a significant number of African-American tourists from across the
nation, particularly in the summer months.

Plaintiffs felt that the voter registration procedures contained within the
Georgia Election Code were too restrictive and inflexible to be effective for
purposes of its registration drives because, inter alia, the Georgia Election Code:
(a) requires voter registration volunteers to be deputized by county elections
officials; (b) does not allow for cross-county or multi-state voter registration; (c)
requires that volunteer voter registration sites be pre-approved by county elections
officials and published in the local media; (d) requires that voter registration

drives be restricted to certain pre-announced and pre-published hours; (¢)
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prohibits the collection of any voter registration applications other than those that
originated from applicants in the county where the drive was located; and (f)
prohibits door-to-door voter registration efforts. See O.C.G.A. § 21-2-215; Ga.
Comp. R. & Regs. § 183-1-6-.03.

After deciding upon the NVRA-authorized method of voter registration,
Plaintiffs proceeded to plan for their first voter registration drive of the 2004
election season, which was to occur on Saturday, June 12, 2004, at The Mall at
Stonecrest in Lithonia, DeKalb County, Georgia. In the course of planning the
drive, the group learned that some other organizations had run into difficulties
with Secretary Cox and Director Beazley when they submitted completed voter
registration applications from Georgia residents in a bundle to the Elections
Division, so Plaintiffs’ counsel sought clarification from Secretary Cox as to
whether they were taking the position that they would not accept bundled NVRA
applications and, if so, on what basis they were making that determination. (See
Exhibit A, Letter Dated 05/02/04 From B. Heard to C. Cox.)

In his initial inquiry, Plaintiffs’ counsel specifically referred Secretary Cox
to the broad directives provided in the NVRA statute and regulations, to the effect
that states “shall accept” the NVRA application. See 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4(a)(1);
11 C.F.R. § 8.3. Plaintiffs also referred Secretary Cox to information published by

the FEC and the EAC on their respective websites, which specifically stated that
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such a practice was permissible under the NVRA and not a violation of the Voting
Rights Act. (See Exhibit B, “FAQ” Information from FEC and EAC Websites.)

In response to Plaintiffs’ inquiries, Defendants stated that, despite the
advice of the FEC and EAC, it was their normal practice not to accept bundled
NVRA registration applications from non-deputized volunteer voter registration
drive participants. (See Exhibit C, Letter Dated 05/11/04 From F. Jackson to B.
Heard; Exhibit D, Letter Dated 06/02/04 From C. Tatum to B. Heard.) Defendants
claimed that their practice was based on their policy interpretation of the Georgia
Election Code, which they contend requires that applicants individually mail their
applications to the Secretary of State.'

On or about May 14, 2004, after receiving Defendants’ initial response,
Plaintiffs’ counsel immediately provided written notice to Defendants of their
violations of the NVRA and requested that they remedy the noted violations
within 20 days, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b). (See Exhibit E, Letter Dated
05/14/04 From B. Heard to C. Cox) As part of the remedial action, Plaintiffs

specifically requested that Defendants establish procedures for accepting properly

'A deputy attorney general had advised Director Beazley as early as October
of 2000 that such a policy interpretation was not required by the Election Code
and that the Secretary was free to abandon such a policy, and to accept bundled
applications, upon providing notice to and receiving preclearance by the U.S.
Department of Justice, in accordance with Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act.
(See Ex. D, Attachment to 06/02/04 Letter From C. Tatum to B. Heard.)
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completed NVRA voter registration applications without regard to whether they
were individually mailed or bundled. On or about June 8, Plaintiffs’ counsel
reminded Defendants’ representative of Defendants’ failure to remedy the
identified NVRA violations within the 20-day period provided by law and urged
them to immediately take action to do so. (See Exhibit F, Letter Dated 06/08/04
From B. Heard to C. Tatum). Unfortunately, Defendants persisted in their refusal
to remedy the violations.

On or about June 12, 2004, the Wesley Foundation conducted its
previously-planned voter registration drive, in accordance with NVRA and FECA
procedures, at The Mall at Stonecrest in DeKalb County, Georgia. During the
drive, Plaintiffs received and collected registration applications from Georgia
citizens who resided within and outside of DeKalb County, including Plaintiff
Earline Crawford. Plaintiffs also received and collected registration applications
from out-of-state applicants. The overwhelming majority of the applications
received were from African-American registrants between the ages of 18 and 30
years old, many of whom were first-time voter registrants. At the conclusion of the
drive, Plaintiffs gathered the approximately 63 completed NVRA voter
registration applications that they had received from Georgia residents and mailed

them in a bundle to Secretary Cox for processing. Plaintiffs also bundled and



mailed the out-of-state applicants’ applications that they had received to the
relevant state elections officials.

On or about June 17, 2004, an Elections Division representative informed
Plaintiffs’ counsel via telephone that Defendants were rejecting the completed
voter registration applications transmitted to Secretary Cox by Plaintiffs and that
they were refusing to transfer those applications to the appropriate county boards
of registrars for a determination of their eligibility under Georgia law. The
representative advised that Defendants were taking this action because the
applications were received in bundled fashion and because Plaintiffs’ registration
drive was not conducted in accordance with the Georgia Election Code. The
representative confirmed Defendants’ decision in writing the following day. (See
Exhibit G, Letter Dated 06/18/04 From C. Tatum to B. Heard.) During the
conversation on June 17, the representative specifically acknowledged that
Defendants’ rejection of the 63 Georgia residents’ completed applications less
than a week before the June 21, 2004, registration deadline for the July 20, 2004,
primary elections in Georgia would potentially result in many of those applicants

not being qualified to vote in the upcoming elections. This lawsuit followed.



ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

Given that Plaintiffs have a substantial likelihood of success of proving that
their fundamental constitutional rights are being infringed upon and irreparably
harmed as a result of the Secretary’s policies and procedures, a preliminary
injunction is appropriate in this case. Under Rule 65(a), a district court may issue a
preliminary injunction, upon affording notice and an opportunity for hearing to the
opposing party, where the moving party demonstrates (1) a substantial likelihood
of success on the merits; (2) that irreparable injury will be suffered unless the
injunction issues; (3) the threatened injury to the movant outweighs whatever
damage the proposed injunction may cause the opposing party; and (4) if issued,
the injunction would not be adverse to the public interest. Four Seasons Hotels

And Resorts, B.V. v. Consorcio Barr, S.A., 320 F.3d 1205, 1210 (11™ Cir. 2003);

This That and the Other Gift and Tobacco, Inc. v. Cobb County, Georgia, 285 F.3d
1319, 1321-22 (11* Cir. 2002).

In this case, the latter three prongs of the preliminary injunction test are
easily established in light of the fundamental nature of the rights at issue. The
rights to vote and to participate in the political process are fundamental rights,
preservative of all other rights under the United States Constitution. Yick Wo v.

Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 370 (1886); Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533, 561-62




(1964); Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330 (1972); M.L.B. v. S.L..J., 519 U.S. 102,
124 n.14 (1996). Any encroachment of those rights by the state is subject to strict
scrutiny, requiring the state to show that the action is narrowly tailored to serve a
compelling government interest. Id. SLzﬂs_g Duncan v. Poythress, 515 F. Supp.
327, 336-38 (N.D. Ga. 1981). The right to vote includes “all action necessary to
make a vote effective in any primary, special, or general election, including, but
not limited to, registration . . . or other action required by law prerequisite to
voting. .. .” 42 U.S.C. § 1983/(c)(1). Similarly, “the Supreme Court has
recognized ‘as implicit in the right to engage in activities protected by the First
Amendment a corresponding right to associate with others in pursuit of a wide

variety of political, social, economic, educational, religious, and cultural ends.””

Osburnv. Cox, _ F.3d ___ ,2004 WL 1088369 at * __ n.2 (11" Cir. May 17,
2004) (quoting Roberts v. United States Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609, 622(1984)).
Defendants’ application and enforcement of the rules and regulations
governing voter registration under the Georgia Election Code, coupled with their
application of additional policy interpretations related to those rules, has
effectively thwarted and continues to intrude upon Plaintiffs’ fundamental First
Amendment right to conduct cross-county and multi-state voter registration drives

and to engage in civic participation initiatives in the Atlanta metropolitan area at
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times and locations of their choosing.” Likewise, each of the 63 Georgia residents
whom Plaintiffs assisted in completing applications during its drive on June 12
(including Plaintiff Crawford) has been denied the right to register to vote at a
convenient time and in a convenient location of their choosing, as allowed by the
NVRA. In the absence of an injunction, if those individuals were not able to
submit a new registration application to Secretary Cox or their local county board
of registrars prior to June 21, they will be denied the right to vote in the July
primaries.

These encroachments upon Plaintiffs’ fundamental rights and those of its
constituents constitute irreparable harm that cannot be fully compensated by
money or any other legal relief. The harm that Plaintiffs and their constituents will
suffer if an injunction does not issue far outweighs any harm to Secretary Cox or
Director Beazley if an injunction is granted. Indeed, it is difficult to imagine what
harm, if any, will come to Defendants if this injunction is granted. Finally, the
grant of this injunction will not be adverse to the public interest. To the contrary,

the grant of an injunction to protect and preserve the fundamental rights of

“For instance, Plaintiffs had planned to host an additional registration drive
on June 19, to facilitate the registration of additional qualified individuals in
advance of the June 21 deadline for the Georgia primary elections on July 20.
However, after it received notice of Defendants’ rejection of the applications
collected during its June 12 drive, it abandoned further attempts to schedule a
registration drive until this matter could be presented to this Court.
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Plaintiffs and the 63 voters assisted by Plaintiffs will serve and promote the public
interest.

Having established three of the four prongs for preliminary injunctive relief,
we turn to address the first prong — whether Plaintiffs can show a substantial
likelihood of success on the merits. As discussed below, Plaintiffs have plethora of
authority and evidence supporting its claims that Defendants have interfered with
and infringed Plaintiffs’ rights under federal law.

A. The Georgia Election Code (Including its Implementing

Regulations and Defendants’ Policy Interpretations Thereof)
Violates the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

While conceding that it did not comply with the Georgia Election Code,
Plaintiffs maintain that they were nevertheless entitled to operate their organized
registration drives by following the procedures set out in the NVRA and FECA
and their implementing regulations, because those federal statutes and regulations
preempt and supercede the Georgia Election Code. Plaintiffs’ likelihood of
success on this ground is quite substantial.

1. Preemption in General

The ultimate question in federal preemption analysis is whether Congress
intended, by enacting a federal statute, to invoke its authority under the Supremacy
Clause (U.S. Const. art. VI cl. 2), to set aside state law in favor of federal law.

Barnett Bank of Marion County, N.A. v. Nelson, 517 U.S. 25, 30 (1996). Federa}
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courts have recognized three categories of preemption: (1) express preemption,
where the statute contains specific language revealing the degree to which

Congress intended to preempt state law; (2) field preemption, where Congress has

created such an extensive regulatory scheme as to leave no room for states (o
supplement the law; and (3) conflict preemption, which occurs either where a
federal statute creates an irreconcilable conflict with state law, or where a state law
“stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes

and objectives” of the federal statutc. Barnett Bank, 517 U.S. at 31; Teper v.

Miller, 82 F.3d 989, 993 (11" Cir. 1996).

The Eleventh Circuit has already explicitly held that the Federal Election
Campaign Act preempts a Georgia campaign finance law (0.C.G.A. § 21-5-35)
that sought to impose additional prescriptions on when a member of the Georgia
General Assembly could begin accepting campaign funds for his bid for a federal
office. Teper, 82 F.3d at 992. Other courts have likewise held that the NVRA
preempts state voter registration law, to the extent such state laws are in conflict

with the processes authorized by NVRA for voter registration. See Association of

Community Organizations for Reform Now v. Miller, 912 F. Supp. 976, 983-85

(W.D. Mich. 1995), aff’d, 129 F.3d 833, 837 (6" Cir. 1997) [hereinafter

“ACORN”|; Commonwealth of Virginia v. United States, No.

CIV.A.3:95CV357RLW, 1995 WL 928433 at *1 (E.D. Va. Oct. 18, 1995).
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The preemption analysis in Teper is particularly instructive in helping to
illustrate how and why FECA and the NVRA are preemptive of the laws,
regulations, and policy interpretations of the Georgia Election Code that are
relevant to this case. Both FECA and NVRA were enacted pursuant to Congress’
authority, under Article 1, Section 4 of the Constitution, to enact legislation and/or
alter existing statc legislation related to the times, places, and manner of holding
federal elections. Teper, 82 F.3d at 994; ACORN, 912 F. Supp. at 984. Likewise,
both statules contain express language that indicates Congress’ intent 1o preempt
state law. Compare 2 U.S.C. § 453 (“The provisions of this Act, and of rules
prescribed under this Act, supersede and preempt any provisions of state law with
respect to the election to Federal Office.”) (FECA) with 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-2(a)
(“. . . notwithstanding any other Federal or State law, in addition to any other
method of voter registration provided for under state law, each State shall establish
procedures to register Lo vote in elections for Federal office . . . (2) by mail
application pursuant to section 1973gg-4 of this title. . . .”) (NVRA).

The difference in the express preemption language in FECA and NVRA
reflects the type of preemption intended by both laws. The current FECA
preemption statute was modified in 1974 to reflect Congress’ intent that FECA
and its implementing regulations should occupy the field and be the sole authority

with respect to the regulation of federal elections, leaving no room for state
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regulation of federal elections. Teper, 82 F.3d at 994. The NVRA preemption
statute, on the other hand, specifically references “other method([s] of voter
registration provided for under state law” and allows for such methods and
procedures, to the extent they do not conflict with or frustrate the purpose of the
additional voter registration methods for federal elections that are authorized by
the NVRA.? Under either statute or either type of preemption analysis, however,
the Georgia Election Code and Defendants’ regulations and policy interpretations
thereof violate the Supremacy Clause, at least insofar as they seek to regulate
federal elections.
2.  FECA Preemption

The Federal Elections Commission’s regulations under FECA set forth
extensive regulations defining what voter registration, voter identification, and
get-out-the-vote activities are and governing how such activities are to be
conducted during federal election campaigns. See, e.g., 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.24,

114.4. For example, the FECA regulations define “voter registration activity” to

*As a matter of law, the NVRA only regulates the registration process for
federal elections. As a practical matter, however, the NVRA also necessarily
impacts the registration process for Georgia’s statewide and local elections,
because Georgia chooses to maintain a unitary list of voters for federal, state, and
local elections. See O.C.G.A. § 21-2-211(a). That fact does not render the NVRA
unconstitutional, nor does it restrict its application or preemptive force in any way.
ACORN, 912 F. Supp. at 983-85.
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include but not be limited to “printing and distributing registration and voting
information, providing individuals with voter registration forms, and assisting
individuals in the completion and filing of such forms.” 11 C.F.R. § 100.24(a)(2)
(emphasis added). Additionally, FECA regulations require voter registration
services to be provided on a nonpartisan basis and that signs be posted informing
the public of that fact. See 11 C.F.R. § 114.4(d). Under the Supremacy Clause,
these federal regulations occupy the field, insofar as federal election activity is
concerned. Thus, Georgia’s requirements for voter registration drives (including
the requirement for deputization of registrars, the preapproval and pre-
advertisement of registration sites, and the prohibitions against non-registrars
collecting applications) are unenforceable and void — at least during federal
clection campaign season.
3. NVRA Preemption

Unlike FECA, the NVRA’s express statutory preemption language reﬂebts a
conflict preemption theory, meaning that states are allowed some room to continue
regulating in the area of federal elections. However, given the broad purpose and
intent of the NVRA to facilitate and increase the registration of voters in federal
elections, the regulatory authority grated to the states is extremely limited — most

likely to the area of traditional in-person registration by local elections officials.
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State regulation of any other method of voter registration would likely frustrate the
purpose of the NVRA and, therefore, be prohibited and preempted.

Congress’ express purpose in enacting the NVRA was “(1) to establish
procedures that will increase the number of citizens who register to vote in
elections for Federal office; (2) to make it possible for Federal, State, and local
governments to implement this subchapter in a manner that enhances the
participation of eligible citizens as voters in elections for federal office; (3) to
protect the integrity of the electoral process; and (4) to ensure that accurate and
current voter registration rolls are maintained.” 42 U.S.C. §1973gg(b) (emphasis
added). Congress made specific findings that the right of U.S. citizens to vote is
fundamental; that federal, state, and local governments have a duty to “promote
the exercise of that right”; and that “discriminatory or unfair registration laws and
procedures can have a direct and damaging effect on voter participation . . . and
disproportionately harm voter participation by various groups, including racial
minorities.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg(a).

In order to further the purposes for which the NVRA was enacted, Congress
directed the States to establish several innovative types of voter registration
procedures in addition to and notwithstanding those procedures already

provided for in state law. These methods included so-called “motor voter”
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registration, in-person registration at designated governmental and non-
governmental offices, and registration by mail application.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-2.
With respect to registration by mail application, Congress provided a clear, simple,

and easily discernable directive: “Each state shall accept and use the mail voter

registration application form prescribed . . . pursuant to [42 U.S.C. §
1973gg-7(a)(2)] for the registration of voters in elections for Federal office.” 42
U.S.C. § 1973gg-4 (a) (emphasis added). Congress further directed the states to

make the mail applications available to governmental and private entities, “with

particular emphasis on making them available for organized voter registration

programs.”42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-4(b) (emphasis added). Congress specifically
provided that each state shall ensure that any eligible applicant is registered to

vote if (inter alia) his or her valid registration application is either postmarked by

the relevant registration deadline, or received by the appropriate state elections
official by the relevant registration deadline. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(a)(1)(B) and
(D).
4.  Agency Deference
Congress has designated the U.S. Election Assistance Commission as the
agency responsible for designing the NVRA mail voter registration application,

making biennial reports to Congress on the administration of federal elections,
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